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Building an all-in-one investment platform for 
regular income
Mintos is Europe's leading investment platform for earning regular passive income, with over EUR 700 million in assets 
under management (as of the repo% signing date in 2025) for more than 500 000 registered users. As an authorized 
investment "rm under The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (hereinafter – MiFID II), Mintos enables users to 
build diversi"ed po%folios of income-generating assets through both automated and manual investment strategies. 
We’ve earned multiple industry awards since our founding in 2015, including "ve consecutive AltFi People's Choice 
Awards.

We set out as a platform for investing in loans, and grew into the market leader in Europe. While investments in loans 
remained our core business, we sta%ed the transformation into a multi-asset investment platform with the launch of 
bonds and ETFs in late 2023. In 2024, we rounded out our o&ering with the addition of rental residential real estate and 
Sma% Cash. This broad o&ering enables us to become the one-stop solution for income-focused investing as we scale 
our business to help retail investors across the EU reach their "nancial goals.

Continuing our multi-asset transformation
In 2024 we continued our pivot to a multi-asset platform. By adding real estate and Sma% Cash (money market funds) to 
our po%folio, we’re now o&ering most major asset classes. And with single ETFs and stocks in the pipeline, we’re forging 
ahead with our vision to o&er industry-leading diversi"cation on a single platform. Our focus on helping investors grow 
their wealth with income-generating assets is a key selling point against our competitors.

Our successful pivot to multi-asset investing is clearly proven by the uptake from investors newly registering in 2024. We 
also saw a growing number of our existing investors include new asset classes in their po%folios. While loans remained 
the leading asset class, investors are allocating an increasing share of their investments to other asset classes, with 
bonds, ETFs, and Sma% Cash being the most popular. 

The diverse selection of investments now available on Mintos provides investors with unprecedented oppo%unities to 
manage investment risk through diversi"cation on a single platform.

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.
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Loans

Bonds

ETFs

Sma# Cash

Real estate

Investments in loans, where Mintos is the largest platform in Europe by a wide margin, remained a 
strong core business in 2024. Over the course of the year, we continued to invest in our loan products, 
such as improving the user experience and investment algorithms of our 'agship product, Core Loans.

Bonds quickly became a success story in 2024, accounting for a growing share of new investments 
over the course of the year. To fu%her scale our o&ering and address new customer segments, we 
sta%ed working on bringing direct bond investments to Mintos to complement our bond-backed 
securities. This enables us to introduce bonds from a vast selection of industries, creating even 
greater oppo%unities for diversi"cation and catering to a wide range of investor preferences. Direct 
bond investments were launched in January 2025.

ETFs have been growing steadily over the past year. To automate processes and manage po%folios 
more e(ciently, we pa%nered with Upvest, a leading provider of investment infrastructure. The Upvest 
API enables us to easily scale our current ETF o&ering and introduce a broader range of investments in 
2025, including new ETF po%folios and single ETFs.

Our youngest asset class, Sma% Cash, is a cash management solution that allows investors to invest 
in a money market fund. Right from its launch in June 2024, it gained traction and quickly became 
one of the most popular asset classes on Mintos. It has drawn pa%icularly strong interest from large 
investors (including companies) in markets with low bank interest rates.

Launched in April 2024, real estate received strong interest from investors. Available o&ers sold out 
quickly, showing high demand and great promise. We’re now working on broadening our supply by 
expanding the cooperation with our current pa%ners as well as onboarding new pa%ners.



Our total assets under management reached EUR 673 million at the 
end of 2024, a EUR 62 million (9%) increase over 2023.

Scaling across the EU
We completed our European expansion in 2024 and are now fully operational across the continent. This comprehensive 
rollout represents a signi"cant milestone in our plan to o&er 'exible and diverse investment oppo%unities to all European 
investors.

By the end of the year, 43 thousand new investors had joined Mintos (2023: 36 thousand). We saw increased interest 
from new countries, most notably Po%ugal, which became our 10th fully localized market.

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.
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Raising capital to accelerate growth
In April 2024, Mintos Group returned to Crowdcube and raised EUR 3.1 million in equity investments from over 3 300 
investors. This is our second crowdfunding campaign after 2020, when we raised EUR 6.5 million from over 6 100 
investors, at that time the largest raise in continental Europe on Crowdcube. We greatly appreciate the interest from 
our community in owning pa% of Mintos and sharing our success. In September, we secured an additional EUR 2 million 
in debt from the growth capital fund FlyCap. These funds will help us fuel our growth initiatives by doubling down on 
investor acquisition and retention, as well as delivering value to our investors by continuously enhancing our products 
and broadening our o&ering.

Financial results
In 2024, we fu%her diversi"ed our revenue streams, leading to a revenue increase of 9% compared to the year before. 
We closed the year with EUR 12.4 million in revenue, up from EUR 11.4 million in 2023.

Our total cost base increased over the course of the year. We invested more into customer acquisition to grow our user 
base. Moreover, we expanded our team to help us launch and service our new products, which increased the total salary 
cost. Penalty income decreased by EUR 1.1 million in 2024 compared to 2023, re'ecting improved lending companies' 
discipline and payment behavior.

This led to a total comprehensive loss of EUR 2.74 million, down from a EUR 650 thousand pro"t in 2023. The result 
includes EUR 472 thousand related to the fair value of share-based payment bene"ts which are being recognized 
over the vesting period. Excluding these payments, the result is a loss of EUR 2.27 million compared to a pro"t of 
EUR 787 thousand in 2023 (adjustment for share-based payment bene"ts included). 

In 2024, we continued to make signi"cant investments in our IT systems to suppo% our new products and improve the 
e(ciency of existing products. We invested a total of EUR 3 million, compared to EUR 2 million in 2023.

2025 outlook
In 2025 we’ll complete our investment o&ering by adding the remaining major asset classes. We sta%ed the year by 
launching direct bond investments in January, which allows us to expand signi"cantly and scale our bond o&ering. 
We’ll also capitalize on our integration with Upvest to bring investments in single ETFs and stocks to Mintos. To complete 
our o&ering, we will look to expand into other assets to help investors build fully diversi"ed po%folios on a single platform.

We’ll also launch new options for depositing cash to Mintos. By adding open banking, card payments, and Apple Pay 
and Google Pay, customers will be able to top up their accounts and sta% investing in a faster and more seamless way.

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.
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Risks and unce#ainties 
Risk management is an integral pa% of our operations at Mintos and essential to ensure sustainable business 
development. Our risk management strategy is de"ned in our Disclosure on risk management practices, which is 
provided in accordance with the disclosure requirements set out in Regulation (EU) 2019/2033. We assess which risks 
are material to our operations on an annual basis, and have identi"ed the following risks as material: compliance risk, 
concentration risk, counterpa%y and credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, and reputational risk. For each material 
risk, we create policies that outline how the risk is managed, controlled, and monitored. Risk management policies are 
approved by the Supervisory Board.

Our business operations are a&ected by market dynamics on the macroeconomic level. As investments in loans account 
for the majority of our assets under management, Mintos’ pe)ormance is tied to the ability of borrowers across multiple 
geographies to make repayments on their loans, and on the business pe)ormance of the lending companies on the 
platform. As our asset mix diversi"es to include bonds, ETFs, and real estate, the pe)ormance of "nancial markets and 
related industries becomes increasingly relevant. While Mintos does not invest in "nancial instruments for trading on 
its own behalf, 'uctuations in "nancial markets still impact customer demand, indirectly a&ecting our pe)ormance. 
To navigate these dynamics, Mintos’ management and risk team monitor global developments, assess the potential 
risks, and evaluate responses where necessary. However, market risk currently is not considered signi"cant.

We’re commi*ed to maintaining a controlled environment that protects investors and enables us to e&ectively prevent 
or "ght "nancial crime on the platform. To this end, we’re monitoring all transactions according to a set of Know Your 
Customer (KYC), Anti-Money Laundering (AML), Counter-Terrorism Financing (CTF), counter-proliferation "nancing, and 
sanctions compliance procedures. Mintos follows the General Data Protection regulation requirements and continually 
invests in resilient technologies for data security. 

We’re also dedicated to protecting investors on the platform from exposing themselves to unacceptable risk levels. 
To achieve this, investors need to complete a Suitability and Appropriateness assessment before investing, and we 
provide them with suppo%ing tools for assessing the risk of an investment, such as the Mintos Risk Score. We are also 
working on initiatives to increase investors’ awareness of the risks that come with investing.

Events after the balance sheet date
After the balance sheet, the Group initiated activities to raise additional capital for growth and development, one of 
which was issuing subordinated bonds by Mintos Marketplace AS. There have been no other signi"cant events after the 
balance sheet date.

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.
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This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.

Mintos management will continue to assess the market developments to make decisions that serve the best interest of 
Mintos.

Mintos management is responsible for preparing the Group’s consolidated "nancial statements, ensuring compliance 
with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU). These consolidated "nancial statements 
provide a true and fair view of the Group’s "nancial position as of 31 December 2024, its operational results, and cash 
'ows for the year.

Additionally, the Group’s management is accountable for maintaining accurate accounting records, ensuring that both 
Group’s and investor assets are safeguarded according to regulatory requirements and prevention of fraud and other 
illicit activities.

It is also tasked with ensuring the Company operates in accordance with the relevant legislation.

The conclusions and comments in this management repo% are based on information available at the time of completion 
of this repo%.

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025
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Consolidated Financial Statements: 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

 Notes

2024

EUR

2023*

EUR

Commission and fee income 5 12 428 957 11 445 022

Commission and fee expenses 6 (37 455) (57 101)

Net commission income  12 391 502 11 387 921

Employee remuneration expenses 7 (7 264 577) (5 273 318)

Depreciation and amo%ization 12, 13 (2 867 975) (2 569 965)

Administrative and other general expenses 8 (5 679 006) (4 629 413)

Other income 9 805 884 1 847 794

Other expenses (10 361) (880)

Impairment reverse/ (losses) 27a 5 728 (40 362)

Interest income 73 344 56 312

Interest and similar expenses 10 (159 637) (81 505)

(Loss)/income before tax (2 705 098) 696 584

Corporate income tax 11 (27 806) (31 296)

Deferred corporate income tax  11 (11 215) (13 156)

(Loss)/income for the year (2 744 119) 652 132

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassi$ed to 
pro$t or loss in subsequent periods (net of tax):

Exchange di&erences on translation of foreign operations 5 508 (1 876)

Change in fair value of "nancial instruments - 163

Other comprehensive (loss) for the year, net of tax 5 508 (1 713)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income (2 738 611) 650 419 

*  Data for the year 2023 was reclassi"ed to provide comparative information, without a&ecting prior year results and equity.

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 44 form an integral pa% of these "nancial statements.

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025
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Assets Notes

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Non-current assets   

Intangible assets  12 4 050 055 3 313 936

Fixed assets  12 246 188 234 721

Right-of-use leased assets 13 446 142 865 299

Other debtors and assets 14 466 254 361 370

Total non-current assets  5 208 639 4 775 326

   

Current assets   

Trade receivables 15 860 756 929 709

Other debtors and assets 14 957 377 1 863 345

Cash and cash equivalents 16 5 184 858 2 727 636

Total current assets  7 002 991 5 520 690

TOTAL ASSETS  12 211 630 10 296 016

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.
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Consolidated Financial Statements: 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 44 form an integral pa% of these "nancial statements.

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025



EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Equity Notes

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Share capital 17 1 153 177        1 120 658 

Share premium 17 12 612 636        9 701 879 

Other capital reserves 17, 24 809 203 364 152

Foreign currency exchange reserve  (34 679) (40 187)

Accumulated losses  (8 014 820) (5 297 488)

Total Equity  6 525 517 5 849 014

  

Non-current liabilities  

Deferred tax liabilities 11 151 855 140 640

Lease  13 58 251 468 525

Borrowings 18 1 843 873 438 836

Contract liabilities 19 244 170 184 263

Other payables 35 366 6 252

Total Non-current liabilities 2 333 515 1 238 516

Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables 20 820 333 807 788

Borrowings 18 167 970 79 316

Lease 13 411 188 468 085

Corporate income tax 60 248 46 955

Taxes and State mandatory social insurance liabilities 21 689 799 659 872

Accrued liabilities 22 718 532 707 168

Contract liabilities 19 484 528 439 302

Total Current liabilities  3 352 598 3 208 486

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 12 211 630 10 296 016       

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.
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Consolidated Financial Statements: 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 44 form an integral pa% of these "nancial statements.

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025
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Consolidated Financial Statements: 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025

Cash 'ows to/from operating activities Notes

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

 (Loss)/pro"t before tax (2 705 098) 696 584

 Adjustments for:   

  Amo%ization and depreciation 12, 13 2 867 975 2 569 965

  Loss from 'uctuations of currency exchange rates 33 099 9 546

  Other interest and similar income  (73 344) (56 312)

  Interest and similar expense 10 126 539 71 959

  Share-based payment expense 7, 24 471 838 136 142

  Loss/(gain) on disposal of prope%y, plant and equipment  (3 563) 7 696

  (Increase)/decrease in "nancial instruments at fair value through  
  pro"t or loss  (187) -

  (Increase) in receivables and other assets (152 313) (667 533)

  Increase in payables 318 243 611 324

 Cash generated from operations 883 189 3 379 371

  Corporate income tax paid (55 311) (10 331)

Net cash 'ows to/from operating activities 827 878 3 369 040

 

Cash 'ows to/from investing activities

 Purchase of equipment 12 (151 298) (166 902)

 Disposal of equipment  7 279 1 435

 Purchase of intangible assets 12 (3 056 895) (2 011 941)

 Deposit 14 1 000 000 (1 000 000)

 Purchase of "nancial instruments (76 422) (13 961)

 Sale of "nancial instruments 39 579 -

 Interest received 59 193 48 683

Net cash 'ows to/from investing activities (2 178 564) (3 142 686)

 

Cash 'ows to/from %nancing activities

 Issued share capital 17 32 519 -

 Issued, paid share premium, net 17 2 910 757 -

 Repayment of lease liabilities 13 (503 316) (440 376)

 Interest paid 18, 23 (83 753) (1 341)

 Borrowings 18, 23 2 000 000 285 000

 Loan origination costs 18 (26 000) -

 Repayment of borrowings 18, 23 (489 200) (174 950)

Net cash 'ows to/from %nancing activities 3 841 007 (331 667)

  

 Change in cash 2 490 321 (105 313)

 Net foreign exchange di&erence (33 099) (9 546)

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2 727 636 2 842 495

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 5 184 858 2 727 636

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 44 form an integral pa% of these "nancial statements.



Consolidated 
Statement of 
Changes in 
Equity 

Consolidated Financial Statements:

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.

M
in
to

s H
ol

di
ng

s
C

on
so
lid

at
ed

 a
nn

ua
l r

ep
o%

 fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r 2

02
4

17
49



This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.

M
in
to

s H
ol

di
ng

s
C

on
so
lid

at
ed

 a
nn

ua
l r

ep
o%

 fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r 2

02
4

18
49

Consolidated Financial Statements: 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025

Notes

Share 
capital

EUR

Share 
premium

EUR

Other capital 
reserves

EUR

Accumulated 
losses

EUR

Foreign 
currency 
translation 

reserve

EUR

Total

EUR

Balance as of 31 December 2022 17 1 120 658 9 701 879 835 206 (6 556 816) (38 474) 5 062 453

Share-based payments 24 - - 136 142 - - 136 142

Reduction of share-based payments 
reserve balance 17 - - (607 196) 607 196 - -

Transactions with shareholders - - (471 054) 607 196 - 136 142

Income for the repo%ing year - - - 652 132 - 652 132

Other comprehensive (loss) - - - - (1 713) (1 713)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)    - - - 652 132 (1 713) 650 419

Balance as of 31 December 2023 17 1 120 658 9 701 879 364 152 (5 297 488) (40 187) 5 849 014

Issue of share capital 17 32 519 2 910 757 - - - 2 943 276

Share-based payments 24 - - 471 838 - - 471 838

Reduction of share-based payments 
reserve balance 17 - - (26 787) 26 787 - -

Transactions with shareholders 32 519 2 910 757 445 051 26 787 - 3 415 114

(Loss) for the repo%ing year - - - (2 744 119) - (2 744 119)

Other comprehensive income - - - - 5 508 5 508

Total comprehensive income/(loss) - - - (2 744 119) 5 508 (2 738 611)

Balance as of 31 December 2024 17 1 153 177 12 612 636 809 203 (8 014 820) (34 679) 6 525 517

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 44 form an integral pa% of these "nancial statements.
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1. Corporate information

The consolidated "nancial statements of Mintos Holdings AS (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board Members 
on 24 July 2025. In accordance with the Commercial Law of the Republic of Latvia, the shareholders’ meeting has the 
right to make the decision on the approval of the "nancial statements. The registered o(ce of the Group is at Skanstes 
iela 50, Riga. 

The core business activity of the Group during the repo%ing year was to operate a global online investment platform 
providing investors with an easy and transparent way to invest in alternative and traditional "nancial assets.

Mintos Marketplace AS provides investment and auxiliary investment services. Mintos Payments SIA is a licensed 
electronic money institution. The activities of Mintos Marketplace AS are regulated by the Financial lnstruments Market 
Law and Law on Investment Firms. Activities of Mintos Payments SIA are regulated by the Law on Payment Services and 
Electronic Money and other normative documents of the Republic of Latvia.

Information on the Group’s structure is provided in Note 4. 

2. Summary of signi%cant accounting policies

 a. Basis of preparation

These consolidated "nancial statements of the Group are based on the accounting records made pursuant to the 
legislative requirements and prepared in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union, on a going concern basis. These consolidated "nancial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s 
Board on 24 July 2025. 

These consolidated "nancial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except where noted otherwise.

The presentation currency used in the consolidated "nancial statement is euro (EUR), the presentation currency of the 
Republic of Latvia. The "nancial statements cover the period 1 January 2024 through 31 December 2024. 

The consolidated "nancial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. 
The comparative period is from 1 January 2023 through 31 December 2023.

 b. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated "nancial statements comprise the "nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as of 
31 December 2024. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to a&ect those returns through its power over the investee.

Speci"cally, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

 • Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee);

 • Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;

 • The ability to use its power over the investee to a&ect its returns.

The Group re-assesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income, and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated "nancial statements from the date 
the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Pro"t or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are a*ributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a de"cit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the "nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses, and cash 'ows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, 
non-controlling interest, and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in pro"t or loss. 
Any investment retained is recognized at fair value.

The Group’s consolidated "nancial statements are presented in euros, which is also the parent company’s functional 
currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the "nancial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency 
spot rates at the date the transaction "rst quali"es for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the repo%ing date. Di&erences 
arising on se*lement or translation of monetary items are recognized in Consolidated Statement of comprehensive 
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income under Exchange di&erences on translation of foreign operations.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the repo%ing date and their statements of pro"t or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. The exchange di&erences arising on translation for consolidation are recognized in OCI. 
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that pa%icular foreign operation is reclassi"ed to 
pro"t or loss.

 c. New standards and amendments

New accounting and "nancial repo%ing standards, interpretations, and amendments which were not applicable to 
the previous annual "nancial statements since then have been issued. Some of the standards become e&ective in 
2024, others become e&ective for later repo%ing periods. In this section those relevant for the Group are summarized. 
Where the implementation impact was or is expected to be reasonably material it is disclosed.

The following new and amended standards did not have a signi"cant impact on the Group’s consolidated "nancial 
statements: 

 • Classi"cation of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1);

 • Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1);

 • Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16);

 • Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7).

 d. Standards issued but not yet e$ective and not early adopted 

A number of new standards or amendments to standards are e&ective (some of which are not yet been endorsed by EU) 
for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2024 and earlier application is permi*ed; however, the Group has not early 
adopted the new standards or amended standards in preparing these consolidated "nancial statements.

The following new and amended standards are not expected to have a signi"cant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
"nancial statements:

 • Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21);

 • Amendments to the Classi"cation and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7);

 • Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting standards Volume 11 (issued on 18 July 2024);

 • IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (issued on 9 April 2024);

 • IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures (issued on 9 May 2024).

 e. Financial instruments

  (i) Classi"cation 

A "nancial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another entity, a contractual right to receive cash or 
another "nancial asset from another entity or to exchange "nancial assets or "nancial liabilities with another entity 
under conditions that are potentially favorable to the entity; or a contract that will or may be se*led in the entity’s own 
equity instruments and is a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the 
entity’s own equity instruments or a derivative that will or may be se*led other than by the exchange of a "xed amount 
of cash or another "nancial asset for a "xed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial assets are classi"ed as either "nancial assets subsequently measured at amo%ized cost, at fair value through 
pro"t or loss, or fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI). The classi"cation of "nancial assets at initial 
recognition depends on the "nancial asset’s contractual cash 'ow characteristics and the Group’s business model 
for managing them. When "nancial assets are recognized initially, they are measured at fair value plus, in the case of 
investments not at fair value through pro"t and loss, directly a*ributable transaction costs. For a "nancial asset to be 
classi"ed and measured at amo%ized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash 'ows that are ‘solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI 
test and is pe)ormed at an instrument level. The Group’s business model for managing "nancial assets refers to how it 
manages its "nancial assets in order to generate cash 'ows. The business model determines whether cash 'ows result 
from collecting contractual cash 'ows, selling "nancial assets, or both. The Group determines the classi"cation of its 
"nancial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed or prompted and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation 
at each "nancial year-end. Currently all the Group’s "nancial assets are classi"ed and measured at amo%ized cost, 
except ETFs. ETFs are measured at fair value through pro"t or loss (FVTPL).

A "nancial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another "nancial asset to another 
entity or to exchange "nancial assets or "nancial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavorable to the entity; or a contract that will or may be se*led in the entity’s own equity instruments and is a 
non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s own equity instruments 
or a derivative that will or may be se*led other than by the exchange of a "xed amount of cash or another "nancial 



This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.

M
in
to

s H
ol

di
ng

s
C

on
so
lid

at
ed

 a
nn

ua
l r

ep
o%

 fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r 2

02
4

22
49

asset for a "xed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. Financial liabilities are classi"ed, at initial recognition, 
as "nancial liabilities at fair value through pro"t or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an e&ective hedge, as appropriate. Currently, all the Group’s "nancial liabilities are classi"ed as 
amo%ized costs.

  (ii) Date of recognition 

Accounts receivable from another entity are recognized after services are provided to another entity. Other assets are 
recognized on the date when the Group enters into the contract, giving rise to the "nancial instruments.

  (iii) Initial and subsequent measurement of "nancial instruments 

All "nancial instruments are measured initially at their fair value and in case of "nancial assets not at fair value through 
pro"t or loss, loans and borrowings, and payables net of directly a*ributable transaction costs. 

Financial assets at amo%ized cost

The Group measures "nancial assets at amo%ized cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

 • The "nancial asset is held within a business model with the objective of holding "nancial assets to collect 
contractual cash 'ows;

 • The contractual terms of the "nancial asset give rise on speci"ed dates to cash 'ows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, "nancial assets measured at amo%ized cost are measured at amo%ized cost using the EIR, less 
allowance for impairment. Amo%ized cost is calculated by considering any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
and costs that are an integral pa% of the EIR. The amo%ization is included in Interest and similar income in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in Credit loss expense. Gains and losses are recognized in pro"t or loss when the asset is derecognized, modi"ed, 
or impaired. The Group’s "nancial assets at amo%ized cost include trade receivables, accrued income.

Financial assets at fair value through pro"t or loss

A "nancial asset is measured at fair value through pro"t or loss unless it is measured at amo%ized cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. For equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value through 
pro"t or loss an irrevocable election at initial recognition on instrument-by-instrument basis is made to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. Also a "nancial asset or liability, at initial recognition, 
may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair value through pro"t or loss if doing so eliminates or signi"cantly 
reduces “accounting mismatch” that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the 
gains and losses on them on di&erent bases, or when a group of "nancial liabilities or a group of "nancial assets and 
"nancial liabilities are managed and its pe)ormance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the 
management.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of directly a*ributable transaction costs. Subsequently, they 
are measured at amo%ized cost using the e&ective interest Rate (hereinafter - EIR). The EIR is determined based on 
expected future cash out'ows, considering all contractual terms, including revenue-linked interest components. 
For loans with variable interest rates tied to revenue growth, the Management estimates expected future payments 
based on reasonable and suppo%able forecasts. Changes in estimated future payments result in adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of the borrowings while the original EIR continues to be applied. This approach may lead to periodic 
true-up adjustments as actual revenue growth di&ers from initial estimates. As the interest component is directly tied to 
turnover growth, it does not meet the de"nition of an embedded derivative per IFRS 9. Interest expense is recognized in 
pro"t or loss using the original EIR. 

  (iv) Derecognition 

A "nancial asset is derecognized only when the contractual rights to receive cash 'ows from the asset have expired, 
or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 'ows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash 'ows in full without material delay to a third pa%y under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. A "nancial liability 
is derecognized only when the obligation under the liability is discharged according to the contract or cancelled or 
expires. 

All purchases and sales of "nancial assets are recognized and derecognized on the se*lement date. 

  (v) Impairment of "nancial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through pro"t or loss. ECLs are based on the di&erence between the contractual cash 'ows due in accordance with 
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the contract and all the cash 'ows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
e&ective interest rate. The expected cash 'ows will include cash 'ows from the sale of collateral held or other credit 
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms, if relevant. 

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a signi"cant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the 
next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a signi"cant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

Financial assets where the Group calculates ECL are:

 • Trade receivables and other receivables

 • Cash and cash equivalents

 • Bonds.

Impairment of other receivables from customers/ contract assets (Trade receivables)

For trade receivables and unbilled receivables, the Group applies a simpli"ed approach to calculating ECLs. Therefore, 
the Group does not track changes in credit risk but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs on 
each repo%ing date. The Group is considering its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
speci"c to the debtors and the economic environment. Due to the speci"cs of the Group’s operations, whereby there 
is only a very limited number of counterpa%ies and a very sho% payment cycle for trade receivables, the majority of the 
trade receivables outstanding as of year-end are paid according to the contractual payment due date which is sho%ly 
after the year end. As a result, in practice, there can be limited need, if any, for forward-looking adjustments to be made.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents

For cash and cash equivalents, default is considered as soon as balances are not cleared beyond the conventional 
banking se*lement timeline, i.e., a few days. Therefore, the transition is straight from Stage 1 to Stage 3, given the low 
number of days that it would take the exposure to reach Stage 3 classi"cation, meaning default. For cash and cash 
equivalents, no Stage 2 is applied, given that any past due days would result in default.

The Group considers a "nancial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in ce%ain 
cases, the Group may also consider a "nancial asset to default when internal or external information indicates that 
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
engagements held by the Group. A "nancial asset is wri*en o& when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering 
the contractual cash 'ows.

 f. Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise purchased licenses, internally developed software and purchased internet domain names. 
Intangible non-current assets are stated at cost and amo%ized over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis 
over a 3-year period, except purchased internet domain name which is not amo%ized and not tested as there were 
no indications. Internally developed software development costs include the costs related to software development, 
mainly consisting of internally capitalized salary expenses. The Group has made an estimation of the responsibilities for 
every development team member’s duty, based on that salary expenses are capitalized.

 g. Fixed assets

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Equipment - over 3 to 5 years 

Depreciation is calculated when the asset is available for use, i.e., when it is in the location and condition necessary for it 
operating in the manner intended by management or it is engaged in commercial activity. 

An item of equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic bene"ts are expected to arise from the 
asset’s continued use. Any gain or loss arising on the derecognition of the asset (calculated as the di&erence between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the Statement of comprehensive income 
in the year the item is derecognized.

 h. Client contract acquisition costs

The Group incurred various expenditures related to client (investor) acquisitions through marketing campaigns, referral 
programs, active and inactive investor bonuses, and a(liate campaigns. Under IFRS 15, these costs are capitalized when 
they are directly a*ributable to obtaining a contract and are expected to be recoverable. If a reliable measurement is 
possible, the lower of the incurred expenditure or the expected future economic bene"t is recognized as deferred client 
acquisition costs in the statement of "nancial position. Otherwise, the expenditure is expensed directly to pro"t and 
loss. The future economic bene"t arises from commission income generated as a direct result of incurred expenditure. 
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The Management estimates the average cost recovery period using historical investor retention and po%folio growth 
data. Based on po%folio income analysis, discounted using the weighted average cost of capital, the estimated recovery 
period for di&erent campaign types ranges from approximately two to four years. To account for variations in investor 
distribution across campaigns and potential structural changes, the Group applies a uniform 36-month amo%ization 
period to all capitalized acquisition costs. If estimates of economic bene"ts related to previously recognized client 
acquisition costs change and the expected economic bene"ts are lower than previously assessed, a write-down is 
made. The amo%ization method is periodically reviewed to ensure alignment with expected cost recovery pa*erns. 
 i. Impairment of non-%nancial assets

The Group assesses at each repo%ing date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that there 
is an indication that a non-"nancial asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values 
exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are wri*en down to their recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount of equipment is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. In assessing 
the value in use, the estimated future cash 'ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
re'ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks speci"c to the asset. For an asset that does 
not generate largely independent cash in'ows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimate used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount 
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. This increased amount constitutes a reversal of impairment losses. 
In case of reversal of impairment, the carrying amount is increased up to its recoverable amount but only to an extent 
it doesn’t exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years. Impairment of goodwill is never allowed to be reversed.

 j. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include unrestricted balances held with central banks and highly liquid "nancial assets with 
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insigni"cant risk of changes 
in their fair value and are used by the Group in the management of its sho%-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amo%ized cost in the statement of "nancial position.

 k. Income and expense recognition 

The Group applied IFRS 15 to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. The Group establishes a "ve-step 
model to account for the revenue arising from contracts with its customers. It requires that revenue be recognized at 
an amount that re'ects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods 
or services to a customer.

The Group considers all the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the IFRS 15 "ve-step revenue 
recognition model to contracts with the customers. Accounting is speci"ed for the incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract and the costs directly related to ful"lling a contract. The Group recognizes revenues using the input method 
on a straight-line basis.

The main source of income is Service fee – lending companies, which includes the Service fee calculated from the 
outstanding loans and the Success fee for the amount of long-term Notes "nanced during the period. Revenue from 
the Service fee is recognized over time and is a variable amount. A pe)ormance obligation is to provide service of using 
a platform monthly. The Success fee is received from lending companies for the completed sale of "nancial instruments. 
If Notes "nanced are repaid before the contractual maturity date, the fee should be returned propo%ionately. 
The Success fee received is pa%ially recognized over time with the remaining propo%ion estimated to be returned being 
recognized as return liability. The estimate is based on historical data analysis of what are the "nancial instruments' early 
repayment pa*erns, and it is reassessed on an annual basis. These fees are closely related as are based on the "nanced 
amount and are shown and booked together.

Connection fees obtained by the Group are non-refundable upfront fees paid by the lending companies for the 
connection to the Mintos platform. Connection fees do not represent a separate pe)ormance obligation from the 
provision of service of using the platform. Therefore, revenue from connection fees is deferred and recognized as 
revenue over the estimated term of customer relationship (i.e., period of lending companies using the platform), which 
is 3 years based on current historical information and the best estimate of the management. The fee is a "xed amount 
agreed in the contract. Connection fees received from customers deferred are accounted as contract liabilities in the 
statement of "nancial position. After launching Notes, additionally to the connection fee, there is an annual prospectus 
renewal fee recognized as revenue within 12 months.

The Pe)ormance fee is paid by lending companies in case the interest paid to investors is below the benchmark rate 
agreed and is calculated as the spread between the actual interest rate and the benchmark rate and applied to the 
invested amount. This fee is not applied to investments in Notes.
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The Group recognizes the bond placement fee for the arranged sale of bonds for issuance of bonds and rental real 
estate backed Notes in the month for which the sale occurred at a point in time.

The Group recognizes penalty income from contract penalties and late payments (related to only investments via 
claims). From the date when the Group has legal rights on such penalty the Group recognizes these when the Group is 
sure it will receive it; usually, it is income payment date.

The Group receives monitoring fees from lending companies for the administration of payment delays related to Notes. 
The Group recognizes the revenue when the lending companies pay the fee, i.e., on the fee payment date.

Foreign currency exchange commissions and secondary market fees are recognized at a point in time and are variable 
amounts. Pe)ormance obligation is satis"ed when service is provided to a customer. 

The Group recognizes inactivity fee income, fee on the outstanding po%folio amount in Core Loans, High-yield, and 
Conservative po%folios, and Sma% Cash fee on the amount invested in money market fund in the month for which it was 
calculated and collected. 

The Group recognizes the Net interest income fee earned on the value of clients’ uninvested funds over time in the 
month for which it was calculated, and the net of payments made to clients. 

All payments are typically due 7-14 days without having a "nancing component. 

Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group 
pe)orms by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment 
is due, a contract asset is recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional. Unbilled receivables consist of 
commissions and fees that have not been billed yet as of the balance sheet date.

Trade receivables

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of 
time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received 
payment (or payment is due) from the customer. If a customer pays before the Group transfers goods or services to 
the customer, a contract liability is recognized when the payment is made or when the payment is due (whichever is 
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group pe)orms under the contract. Contract liabilities 
are advances received. The Group recognizes the revenues as an average monthly amount over the estimated length of 
the customer relationship. 

 l. Share-based payments

All employees of the Group who select a remuneration package with included employee stock options receive 
remuneration for services provided in the form of share-based payments. All of the Group’s share-based payments are 
equity-se*led transactions.

The cost of equity-se*led transactions is determined by the fair value when the grant is made using a Black-Scholes 
valuation model detailed in Note 24. That cost is recognized under employee remuneration expense (Note 7), together 
with the corresponding increase in equity (other capital reserves), over the period the service is provided. The cumulative 
expense recognized for equity-se*led transactions at each repo%ing date until the vesting date re'ects the extent 
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the Statement of comprehensive income for a period represents the movement 
in cumulative expense recognized at the beginning and end of that period. The Group annually reassesses the 
corresponding capital reserve to re'ect only the outstanding share option agreements. 

Service and non-market pe)ormance conditions are not considered when determining the grant date fair value of 
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as pa% of the Group’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Any other conditions a*ached to an award but without an associated service 
requirement are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are re'ected in the fair value of an 
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or pe)ormance conditions. 

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market pe)ormance and/or service 
conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as 
vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satis"ed, provided all other pe)ormance and/or 
service conditions are satis"ed. 

When the terms of an equity-se*led award are modi"ed, the minimum expense recognized is the grant date fair value 
of the unmodi"ed award, provided the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense, measured as of the 
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date of modi"cation, is recognized for any modi"cation that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment 
transaction, or is otherwise bene"cial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or the counterpa%y, 
any remaining element of the award’s fair value is expensed immediately through pro"t or loss.

 m. Fair value

Fair value is the price received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
pa%icipants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 • In the principal market for the asset or liability or

 • In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the 
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market pa%icipants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market pa%icipants act in their economic best interest. 

 n. Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in "nancial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an out'ow 
of resources embodying economic bene"ts is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the "nancial statements 
but is disclosed when an in'ow of economic bene"ts is probable.

 o. Client funds and %nancial instruments

Client funds and "nancial instruments consist of the clients’ safeguarded funds that are not invested and "nancial 
instruments on the Mintos platform in which the clients have invested. One of the "nancial instruments o&ered 
to investors are Notes that, after pooling together 6-20 loans issued by lending companies or are backed by bonds 
or rental real estate, are emi*ed by a special purpose entity within the Mintos Group (refer to Note 4 for the Group 
information) that acts as the issuer. The Group also o&ers money market funds units and "nancial instruments called ETFs 
(exchange-traded funds) that can consist of various types of securities, most commonly stocks or bonds, which are 
traded on an exchange, which increases their liquidity. As the Group does not bear the credit risks and other "nance risks 
related to client funds and "nancial instruments but only earns a commission for servicing them, they are not recognized 
in the statement of "nancial position. Client funds and "nancial instruments are disclosed in Note 25 of these "nancial 
statements.

 p. Leases

The Group (as a lessee) determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably ce%ain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably ce%ain not to be exercised.

The Group has a few contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group considers all relevant 
factors that create an economic incentive when evaluating whether it plans to renew or terminate a lease. After the 
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a signi"cant event or change in circumstances 
that are within its control and a&ect its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate 
(e.g., construction of signi"cant leasehold improvements or signi"cant customization to the leased asset).

Refer to Note 13 for information on potential future rental payments relating to periods following the exercise date of 
extension and termination options that are not included in the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, 
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease period.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments to 
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include "xed payments. The Group uses the borrowing rate determined 
in the agreement to calculate the present value of lease payments. If the borrowing rate is not mentioned, the Group 
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. After the commencement date, the amount of 
lease liabilities is increased to re'ect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, 
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modi"cation, or a change in the lease term, a change in 
the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in the rate used to determine such lease 
payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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Sho#-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and 
sho%-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

How the Group estimates the incremental borrowing rate for leases

The Group uses the interest rate implicit in the old vehicle lease but cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in 
the o(ce rent and new vehicle lease. Hence, it uses its borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities. The Group’s borrowing 
rate is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
The rate, therefore, re'ects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are 
available or when they need to be adjusted to re'ect the terms and conditions of the lease. The average interest rate for 
vehicle leases in 2024 is 5.24% (2023: 5.47%), and for o(ce rent – 4.5% (2023: 4.5%).

 q. Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Groups tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid 
to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. Based on Latvian Corporate income tax law the corporate income tax is calculated on the basis 
of distributed pro"t or in case of expenses treated as deemed pro"t distribution (20/80 of the net amount payable to 
shareholders). The current tax arising from distributed pro"t is recognized when the shareholder of the Group decides 
on pro"t distribution. Corporate income tax from deemed pro"t distributions is presented as “Administrative and other 
expenses” in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are applicable during the taxation period in the 
countries where the Group and the Parent Company operate. The current corporate income tax rate for the Parent 
Company is applied at the statutory rate of 25% from distributed pro"t. Current corporate income tax rates for the 
foreign subsidiaries are:

Estonia  0% from undistributed pro"t and 20/80 from distribution of pro"t (0% from undistributed pro"t  
  and 14/86 from regular dividend payments in the amount that is below or equal to the extent of  
  taxed dividends paid during the 3 preceding years)

United Kingdom 19%

Germany  15%

Mexico  30%

Indonesia  25%

Deferred tax in consolidated "nancial statements arises from temporary di&erences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying value for accounting purposes in the countries where tax is not calculated 
at distribution (i.e., Latvia and Estonia), as well as from undistributed pro"ts of subsidiaries, since it is expected that 
the earnings of subsidiaries will be distributed at some moment. To the extent that subsidiaries’ pro"t distribution is 
assumed, the deferred tax liability is recognized in consolidated "nancial statements. 

 r. Subsequent events

Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the balance sheet date (adjusting 
events) are re'ected in the "nancial statements. No adjusting events are disclosed in the "nancial statements.
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3. Signi%cant estimates and judgements 

The preparation of "nancial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the management 
to make estimates and judgements that a&ect the repo%ed amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expense, and 
disclosure of contingencies. Future events occur which causes the judgements used in arriving at the estimates to 
change. Such estimates judgements are based on the most reliable information available to the management with 
respect to speci"c events and actions. The e&ect of any changes in estimates will be recorded in the "nancial statements 
when determinable. 

The signi"cant areas of estimation and judgements in preparation of these "nancial statements relate to the following 
areas (the same signi"cant estimates and assumptions judgements as in last year):

 • Share-based payments. See Note 24 for more details;

 • Useful life of intangible assets. See Note 2f for more details;

 • Judgement in relation to not recognizing any clients’ funds and "nancial instruments in the Statement of Financial 
Position. See Note 2o for more details;

 • Impairment of intangible assets. See Note 12 for more details;

 • Success fee recognition as a fee return liability. See Note 2k and Note 19 for more details;

 • Lease extension and termination options. See note 13 for more details.

 
4. Group information

Information about companies included in the Group 

The consolidated "nancial statements of the Group include:

Name
Principal 
activities

Country of 
incorporation

2024 % of 
ownership

2023 % of 
ownership

Mintos Holdings AS Holding company Latvia 100 100

Mintos Marketplace AS Global online multi-asset investment platform Latvia 100 100

Mintos Finance Estonia OÜ Suppo% entity Estonia 100 100

Mintos Polska Sp.z.o.o liquidated* Suppo% entity Poland N/a 100

Mintos Finance SIA Suppo% entity Latvia 100 100

Mintos Marketplace Ltd Suppo% entity United Kingdom 100 100

Mintos Finance II SIA Suppo% entity Latvia 100 100

Mintos Finance No2 OÜ Suppo% entity Estonia 100 100

Mintos Capital Management SIA Suppo% entity Latvia 100 100

Mintos Payments UAB liquidated* Suppo% entity Lithuania N/a 100

Mintos Marketplace S.A.P.I. S.A. de C.V Suppo% entity Mexico 100 100

Mintos Payments SIA Electronic money institution Latvia 100 100

Mintos Deutschland GmbH Suppo% entity Germany 100 100

Mintos Development SIA Suppo% entity Latvia 100 100

Mintos Debt Collection SIA Suppo% entity Latvia 100 100

Mintos Fractional Investments SIA Suppo% entity Latvia 100 100

Mintos Marketplace Indonesia PT Suppo% entity Indonesia 49 49

Mintos Capital Management SIA has 100% ownership of 56 Suppo% entities in Latvia, which o&er investments in the 
form of Notes: Mintos Finance No.1 SIA – Mintos Finance No.56 SIA (in 2023 52 Suppo% entities: Mintos Finance No.1 SIA 
– Mintos Finance No.52 SIA).

* Includes:

- data of Mintos Payments UAB till its liquidation date as of 27 February 2023; 
- data of Mintos Polska Sp.z.o.o till its liquidation date as of 21 December 2023.
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5. Commission and fee income

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers:

Type of income
2024

EUR

2023*

EUR

Service fee - lending companies 9 199 829 9 203 098

Net interest income 1 802 270 1 187 880

Bond placement fee 452 634 73 012

Connection fee 398 774 429 120

Inactivity fee 245 334 329 629

Secondary market fee 152 985 82 646

Foreign currency exchange commissions 143 845 139 637

Other commission fees 33 286 -

Total: 12 428 957 11 445 022

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred over time  11 423 804 10 820 098

Services transferred at a point in time 1 005 153 624 924

Total: 12 428 957 11 445 022

* Data for the year 2023 was reclassi"ed to provide comparative information, without a&ecting prior year results and equity. The bond placement fee  
 was reclassi"ed from “Placement fee” to “Bond placement fee”.

Income under “Other commission fees” includes new fees generated from the launch of Sma% Cash and passive Real 
estate investing, and Loan po%folios fees.

6. Commission and fee expenses

Commission expenses consist of commissions charged to execute foreign currency conversions.

7. Employee remuneration expenses

2024

EUR

2023*

EUR

Salaries 7 989 161 5 826 691

Social security contributions 1 819 849 1 316 278

Share-based payment expenses (see Note 24) 471 838 136 142

Business risk duty 790 647

10 281 638 7 279 758

Less: Capitalized development costs (3 017 061) (2 006 440)

Total: 7 264 577 5 273 318

* Data for the year 2023 was amended regarding capitalized costs to provide comparative information, without a&ecting prior year results and equity.

Pa% of salaries and related taxes have been capitalized to IT development costs (see Note 12). The Group employed 185 
employees at the end of the year 2024 (average 179 during the year) and 153 employees at the end of year 2023 (average 
144 during the year).

The Management team consists of the Management Board and heads of functions that have a signi"cant impact on 
the operations of the Group. At the end of year 2024 5 employees were in the Management team (average 5 during the 
year) and 5 employees as of 31 December 2023 (average 4 during the year). The Management team’s salaries and social 
security contributions of the Group amounted to EUR 761 thousand in 2024 and EUR 570 thousand in 2023, while share-
based payments amounted to EUR 75 thousand (EUR 23 thousand in 2023).
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8. Administrative and other general expenses

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

IT expenses 1 408 088 1 192 150

Indirect client acquisition expenses* 623 241 188 105

Bank commissions 558 172 473 475

Non-deductible VAT 540 496 401 150

Direct client acquisition costs** 427 495 164 688

Other personnel related expenses 424 782 372 599

Legal expenses 403 780 403 988

Compliance expenses 396 089 599 495

Audit and consultation expenses 285 217 212 065

O(ce expenses 246 936 250 431

O(ce rent and related expenses 116 786 108 105

Business trips 107 325 87 127

Business development expenses in other countries 48 999 58 121

Other expenses 91 600 117 914

Total: 5 679 006 4 629 413

* Increase in indirect client acquisition in 2024 due to the implementation and expansion of various campaigns. The Group intensi"ed e&o%s to  
 activate investors.

** Direct client acquisition costs consist of expenses related to a(liate, refer-a-friend, and investor bonus programs.

9. Other income

2024

EUR

2023*

EUR

Penalty income** 465 447 1 611 296

Monitoring fee income 136 061 70 147

Income from sho%-term rent sublease 114 512 95 302

Income from recovered legal costs 43 744 -

Other income 46 120  71 049

Total: 805 884 1 847 794

* Data for the year 2023 was reclassi"ed re'ecting the more detailed repo%ing of “Income from sho%-term rent sublease” to provide comparative  
 information, without a&ecting prior year results and equity.

** Penalty income is recognized based on contracts for not meeting contractual liabilities. See Note 2k.

 

10.  Interest and similar expenses

2024

EUR

2023*

EUR

Interest expenses from borrowings 92 645 28 141

Interest expenses calculated on leases (Note 13) 33 532 43 818

Currency exchange losses 33 098 9 546

Other tax interest 362 -

Total: 159 637 81 505

 

* Data for the year 2023 was reclassi"ed to provide comparative information without a&ecting prior year results and equity. 

11. Corporate income tax, deferred corporate income tax

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

Current corporate income tax/(bene"t) 27 806 31 296

Deferred corporate income tax 11 215 13 156

Corporate income tax charged to the statement of comprehensive income: 39 021 44 452
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Deferred corporate income tax liabilities:

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Liabilities

From undistributed pro"ts of the Group’s subsidiaries 151 855 140 640

Deferred corporate income tax liabilities: 151 855 140 640

Ce%ain Group subsidiaries have undistributed pro"ts, which will be taxed upon distribution. For the amount that has not 
been distributed and is likely to be distributed deferred tax liability is recognized.

Ce%ain Group subsidiaries in their early stages of operations in other jurisdictions have tax losses, hence no deferred tax 
asset has been recognized due to recoverability assessment.

Corporate income tax reconciliation:

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

(Loss)/income before corporate income tax (2 705 098) 696 584

Theoretical corporate income tax 0% - -

E&ect from di&erent tax rates 2 258 (33 556)

Unrecognized deferred tax e&ect (27 097) 5 316

Non-deductible expense* (40 771) (9 388)

Change in undistributed pro"ts of the Group’s subsidiaries (11 215) (13 156)

Withholding tax from interest (117) (656)

Doubtful debts* (27) (15 954)

Minimal corporate income tax (2 850) (2 400)

Total corporate income tax (79 819) (69 794)

Out of this:

Corporate income tax and deferred corporate income tax (39 021) (44 452)

Administrative and other general expenses* (40 798) (25 342)

E&ective income tax rate 1.4% 6.4%

* These expenses recognized in Note 8 “Administrative and other general expenses” under “Other expenses”.
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12. Intangible and %xed assets

Trademarks, 
domains, 
licenses

EUR

Internal 
and other 
software

EUR

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

EUR

Total  
Intangible 

assets

EUR

Fixed 
assets

EUR

Year ended 31 December 2023      

Carrying amount as of 1 January 9 769 3 337 703 6 776 3 354 248 179 269

Additions 3 091 2 008 850 - 2 011 941 166 902

Disposals - - - - (22 415)

Reclassi"ed to other debtors and assets - - - - (3 273)

Depreciation and amo%ization (532) (2 051 721) - (2 052 253) (102 319)

Depreciation of disposals - - - - 16 557

Carrying amount as of 31 December 12 328 3 294 832 6 776 3 313 936 234 721

As of 31 December 2023     

Cost 18 398 9 768 725 6 776 9 793 899 757 493

Accumulated amo%ization, depreciation, and impairment (6 070) (6 473 893) - (6 479 963) (522 772)

Carrying amount as of 31 December 12 328 3 294 832 6 776 3 313 936 234 721

Year ended 31 December 2024

Carrying amount as of 1 January 12 328 3 294 832 6 776 3 313 936 234 721

Additions - 2 908 211 148 684 3 056 895 151 298

Disposals - - (6 776) (6 776) (66 741)

Reclassi"ed to expenses (318) - - (318) -

Depreciation and amo%ization (732) (2 312 950) - (2 313 682) (132 523)

Depreciation of disposals - - - - 59 433

Carrying amount as of 31 December 11 278 3 890 093 148 684 4 050 055 246 188

As of 31 December 2024     

Cost 18 080 12 676 936 148 684 12 843 700 842 050

Accumulated amo%ization, depreciation, and impairment (6 802) (8 786 843) - (8 793 645) (595 862)

Carrying amount as of 31 December 11 278 3 890 093 148 684 4 050 055 246 188

The internal software is the core technical asset for operating the Mintos platform. It also includes Payment system, AML 
system and Mobile application development. Internal software costs included capitalized salary and related taxes in the 
amount of EUR 3 017 061 during 2024 (EUR 2 006 440 during 2023), see Note 7. The costs incurred are recognized as an 
intangible asset. Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost less 
any accumulated amo%ization and impairment. The estimated useful life of intangible assets is 3 years. 

Some of the IT employees are involved in building a technical solution (Mintos systems), which is the backbone for 
operating the Mintos platform. The Mintos system is constantly updated to meet both external and internal needs, and 
it is continuously being developed and not expected to be "nalized in the foreseeable future. As the IT depa%ment fully 
develops the system internally, the related payroll and tax payments are capitalized for IT employees involved in its 
development. The list of capitalized salaries is reviewed every month, and capitalized amount can vary from 5 % to 90%.

Given these aspects and future development projections, the management considers that there is no need to recognize 
impairment. The intangible assets are expected to enhance the user experience, improve new client acquisition and 
conversion, and contribute to higher future revenues. The loss incurred during the repo%ing period primarily re'ects 
continued investment in the Group's strategic growth initiatives rather than an indication of impaired economic value of 
the intangible assets. Management believes that the expected future bene"ts from these assets remain intact and will 
be realized over their useful lives. Based on the current pe)ormance indicators, market potential, and forward-looking 
projections, management has assessed that there is no need to recognize an impairment as of 31 December 2024.

Capitalization costs for systems not being launched yet are shown in the position “Intangible assets in progress”.

13. Lease

The Group has lease contracts for motor vehicles and o(ce rent of 3 premises used in its operations in Latvia 
and Germany. Motor vehicle leases have a lease term of 5 years and an o(ce rent term of 10 years with the rest 
non-cancellable period of 7 and 13 months and 2.6 years with the rest non-cancellable period of 12 months. Due to 
the dynamic environment and high growth expectations, management predicts that after January 2026, the Group 
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might need another o(ce. For this reason, the management is considering only period till January 2026 for o(ce rent. 
The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased asset. Contracts include extension 
and termination options, which are fu%her discussed below. The Group applies the ‘current lease’ recognition exemptions 
for some leases. 

The Group has subleased one of the premises as these premises are not used by employees in Latvia. During the 
impairment test of the right-of-use leased assets, no additional impairment was recognized in 2024 (2023: EUR 76 790).

Recognition and movement of right-of-use assets in 2024 and 2023:

Motor vehicles

EUR

O&ce rent

EUR

Total

EUR

As of 1 January 2023 18 762 795 290 814 052

Additions 92 458 89 760 182 218

Termination (50 046) - (50 046)

Remeasurement of the lease (51) 364 295 364 244

Impairment of the asset - (76 790) (76 790)

Depreciation expenses (13 498) (401 895) (415 393)

Depreciation of terminated 47 014 - 47 014

As of 31 December 2023 94 639 770 660 865 299

As of 1 January 2024 94 639 770 660 865 299

Remeasurement of the lease (1 270) 3 883 2 613

Depreciation expenses (20 850) (400 920) (421 770)

As of 31 December 2024 72 519 373 623 446 142

Recognition and movement of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing loans and borrowings) during the period:

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

As of 1 January 936 610 807 681 

Accretion of interest (Note 10) 33 532 43 818

Remeasurement of the lease 2 613 391 327

Additions - 154 820

End of lease - (20 660)

Payments (503 316) (440 376)

As of 31 December 469 439 936 610

Current 411 188 468 085

Non-current 58 251 468 525

The following are the amounts recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (421 770) (415 393)

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 10) (33 532) (43 818)

Expenses relating to sho%-term leases (included in “Administrative and other general 
expenses” Note 8) (6 355) (23 192)

Income from termination of vehicle lease - 17 628

Expenses from remeasurement of the right-of-use assets related to sublease - (27 081)

Total amount recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (461 657) (491 856)

The Group has some lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are negotiated by 
the Management to provide 'exibility in managing the leased-asset po%folio and align with the Group’s business needs. 
The Management exercises signi"cant judgement in determining whether these extension and termination options are 
reasonably ce%ain to be exercised.



This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.

M
in
to

s H
ol

di
ng

s
C

on
so
lid

at
ed

 a
nn

ua
l r

ep
o%

 fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r 2

02
4

34
49

Set out below are the undiscounted potential future rental payments as of 31 December 2024 and as of 31 December 
2023 relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the 
lease term:

Within 
5 years 

31.12.2024

EUR

More than 
5 years 

31.12.2024

EUR

Total 
31.12.2024

EUR

Within 
5 years 

31.12.2023

EUR

More than 
5 years 

31.12.2023

EUR

Total 
31.12.2023

EUR

Cash 'ows should termination options

not to be exercised
1 645 205 - 1 645 205 1 295 045 340 176 1 635 221

TOTAL: 1 645 205 - 1 645 205 1 295 045 340 176 1 635 221

The Group had total cash out'ows for leases of EUR 503 316 in 2024 (2023: EUR 440 376).

14. Other debtors and assets

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023*

EUR

Prepaid expenses** 394 773 303 533

Bonds at amo%ized costs 44 769 8 528

Security deposits 26 712 49 309

Total other debtors and assets non-current, including: 466 254 361 370                      

 Non-%nancial assets 394 773 303 533

 Financial assets 71 481 57 837

Prepaid expenses** 659 756 527 912

Accrued interest income 131 217 175 179

Security deposits 47 463 19 743

Tax assets 31 357 16 133

Current deposit (initial term more than 3 months) at bank - 1 000 000

Security deposit for client cash - 24 475

Other debtors and assets 142 578 159 697

Impairment allowance for other debtors and assets (Note 27a) (54 994) (59 794)

Total other debtors and assets non-current, including: 957 377 1 863 345

 Non-%nancial assets 684 435 545 733

 Financial assets 272 942 1 317 612

TOTAL: 1 423 631 2 224 715 

* As ce%ain expenses became more signi"cant in 2024, they were reclassi"ed from “Other debtors and assets” into a separate line item without a&ecting 
 prior year results and equity.

** Increase in prepaid expenses as of 31 December 2024 is due to the implementation and expansion of various campaigns. The Group intensi"ed e&o%s 
 to activate investors, thus increasing the capitalized contract acquisition costs.

15. Trade receivables

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Unbilled receivables 776 503 793 233

Trade receivables 261 611 366 505

Impairment allowance (Note 27a) (177 358) (230 029)

TOTAL: 860 756 929 709
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16. Cash and cash equivalents

Currency

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Current investments in highly liquid "nancial instruments EUR 2 866 000 930 000

Current deposit (initial term less than 3 months) at bank EUR 950 000 741 529

Impairment allowance for cash equivalents (Note 27a) EUR (18 317) -

Total cash equivalents EUR 3 797 683 1 671 529

Cash at payment institutions EUR 22 022 6 068

Cash at banks: EUR 1 366 135 1 050 039

CZK 34 206 22 626

EUR 1 249 032 1 020 097

GBP 775 990

IDR 34 809 661 4 543 390

KZT 53 347 827  3 565 796

MXN 105 309 88 285

PLN 2 304 2 234

RUB - 126 458

SEK - 721

USD 9 903 14 450

Impairment allowance for cash (Note 27a) EUR (982) -

Total cash EUR 1 387 175 1 056 107

TOTAL: EUR 5 184 858 2 727 636

An expected credit loss allowance of EUR 19 298 (2023: EUR 0) was recognized on placements with highly liquid "nancial 
instruments, payment institutions, and deposits placed in an unrated commercial bank in the Republic of Latvia.

The remaining placements with Banks are on-demand and have a low probability of default and loss, hence, no material 
expected credit loss arises.

17. Share capital and other equity reserves

Share capital and share premium

31.12.2024

Paid in Capital Share premium Number of shares

Class A shares 1 138 423.60 12 556 449.08 11 384 236

Class B shares 14 753.40 56 187.16 147 534

TOTAL: 1 153 177.00 12 612 636.24 11 531 770

31.12.2023

Paid in Capital Share premium Number of shares

Class A shares 1 107 029.90 9 654 723.06 11 070 299

Class B shares 13 627.90 47 155.84 136 279

TOTAL: 1 120 657.80 9 701 878.90 11 206 578

Class A shares are shares with voting rights and are entitled to dividends. Each share has a nominal value of EUR 0.10. 
In 2024, the share capital and share premium from Class A shares were increased by EUR 2.9 million, net of direct capital 
acquisition costs amounting to EUR 159 thousand. This was achieved through the issue of 313 937 new shares with a 
nominal value of EUR 0.10 each, totaling EUR 31 393.70 in share capital, and a share premium of EUR 9.751073 per share, 
totaling approximately EUR 3.06 million. The increase was carried out as pa% of a crowdfunding campaign conducted 
during the year.

Class B shares are shares without voting rights but are entitled to dividends. Each share has a nominal value of 
EUR 0.10. These conditional share capital’s shares are issued when employees exercise their share options (see Note 24). 
In 2024, 11 255 Class B shares were issued resulting in an increase in share capital of EUR 1 125.50 and a share premium of 
EUR 9 031.32 (no Class B shares were issued in 2023).

Other capital reserves

For equity-se*led share-based payment transactions, IFRS 2 requires entities to recognize an increase in equity when 
goods or services are received. However, IFRS 2 Share-based Payment does not specify where in equity this should be 
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recognized. The Group has chosen to recognize the credit in other equity reserves. See Note 24 for more information.

The balance of other capital reserves regarding share-based payments was reduced by reserve amount associated with 
fo)eited and/ or exercised employee equity option agreements in the amount of EUR 26 787 (2023: EUR 607 196), which 
was reallocated from equity reserves to retained earnings.

Other capital reserves consist of loans taken over from the reorganization result with one of the shareholders, Grumpy 
Investments AS, in the amount of EUR 21 641. 

Foreign currency translation reserve

A foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange di&erences arising from the translation of the net 
investment in foreign operations.

18. Borrowings

To suppo% customer acquisition the Company’s subsidiary Mintos Marketplace AS has negotiated two loans from 
Latvian growth capital fund FlyCap Mezzanine Fund II, each for an amount of EUR 1 000 000 and maturities in 2028 
and 2029. Both facilities are unsecured and include "nancial covenants relating to capital, liquidity, and business 
growth, which the company is required to comply with throughout the term of the agreements. The company was in 
compliance with all such covenants as of 31 December 2024. One of the loans is classi"ed as a Tier 2 capital instrument 
by ful"lling requirements of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of The European Parliament and of The Council of 26 June 2013, 
including having 5 year initial term and subordination to other liabilities. The borrowings’ interest rate structure consists 
of both "xed and revenue-based components, with some eligible for capitalization into the loan principal. The EIR as of 
31 December 2024 are 18.04% and 18.19%, re'ecting the impact of "xed interest rates as well as the turnover-based 
interest mechanism.

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Non-current: 1 843 873 438 836

Loans from related pa%ies - 210 000

Other loans 1 843 873 209 550

Interest from loans from related pa%ies - 9 671

Interest from other loans - 9 615

Current: 167 970 79 316

Loans from related pa%ies - 35 000

Other loans 167 970 34 650

Interest from loans from related pa%ies - 4 824

Interest from other loans - 4 842

Set out below borrowings movement table of other borrowings transactions in 2024 and 2023:

Received loans

EUR

Interest

EUR

Total balance from %nancing and investing activities as of: 31.12.2022 189 150 825 

2023
Received 60 000 14 078 

Repaid (4 950) (446)

Total balance from %nancing and investing activities as of: 31.12.2023 244 200 14 457 

2024

Received 2 000 000 72 977

Fees deducted upfront (26 000) -

EIR adjustment 10 510 -

Capitalized interest 27 333 (27 333)

Repaid (244 200) (60 101)

Total balance from %nancing and investing activities as of: 31.12.2024 2 011 843 -

The movement table of loan transactions with related pa%ies can be seen in Note 23.
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19. Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities consist of a connection fee recognized over 3 years, the Prospectus renewal fee recognized over 
1 year, and the Success fee return liability.

01.01.2023

EUR

Revenue 
recognized during 

2023

EUR

New contract 
liabilities during 

2023*

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Revenue 
recognized 

during 2024

EUR

New contract 
liabilities during 

2024*

EUR

31.12.2024

EUR

Contract liabilities 638 025  (426 620) 412 160 623 565 (398 274) 503 407 728 698

Non-current >12m 187 215 184 263 244 170

Current <12m 450 810 439 302 484 528

TOTAL: 638 025 623 565 728 698

* Includes net change of Success fee return liability for the year 2024 in the amount of EUR 45 008 (2023: EUR 2 160). 

20. Trade and other payables

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Salary payables 443 410 350 097

Trade payables 190 683 439 799

Customer security deposits held for se*lement assurance 91 661 -

Interest income pending distribution to investors 76 679 -

Other payables 17 900 17 892

TOTAL: 820 333 807 788

21. Taxes and State mandatory social insurance liabilities

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Personal income tax 434 929 404 342

Statutory social insurance contributions 221 927 185 731

Value added tax 32 874 69 743

Business risk duty 69 56

TOTAL: 689 799 659 872

22. Accrued liabilities

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Accrued expense of unused vacation 425 449 403 153

Accrued expense of received services 293 083 298 737

Other accrued expenses - 5 278

TOTAL: 718 532 707 168
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23. Related pa#y disclosures

Related pa%ies are de"ned as persons that can control the Group by making "nancial and operating decisions, members 
of the Management team of the Group or its parent company, and close members of the families of any individual 
referred to previously, and entities over which these persons exercise control.

Set out below movement table of transactions with related pa%ies:

Transactions during: Balances as of:

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Income     

Income from other related pa%ies - 145 - -

Expenses     

Expenses from the Management team 26 368 26 445 - -

Expenses from other related pa%ies 9 157 14 063 - -

Assets     

Right-of-use leased assets from the Management team - - 1 241 3 722

Liabilities     

Loans from other related pa%ies (including interest) - - - 259 495

Lease from the Management team - - 1 370 4 019

TOTAL INCOME/ ASSETS: - 145 1 241 3 722

TOTAL EXPENSES/ LIABILITIES: 35 525 40 508 1 370 263 514

Set out below movement table of transactions with related pa%ies:

Received loans

EUR

Interest

EUR

Total balance from "nancing and investing activities as of: 31.12.2022 190 000 1 327

2023
Received 225 000 14 063

Repaid (170 000) (895)

Total balance from "nancing and investing activities as of: 31.12.2023 245 000 14 495

2024
Received - 9 157

Repaid (245 000) (23 652)

Total balance from "nancing and investing activities as of: 31.12.2024 - -

24. Share-based payments

Share option plan

According to the Group’s share option plan, share options of the parent are granted to all Group employees who selected 
a compensation package with share options included. Until the end of 2017, the exercise price of the share options was 
equal to the best guess of the fair value estimate of the underlying shares on the date of the grant. Since the beginning 
of 2018, the exercise price of the share options is calculated with a discount on the best guess fair value estimate. Vesting 
of the options depends on the employee remaining in service for the Group. The standard vesting period is 4 years, with 
a 1-year cli&. The options can be exercised within 10 years from the grant date. There are no cash se*lement alternatives. 
The Group does not have a past practice of cash se*lement for these share options.

In 2023, the Group introduced an additional share option plan for employees who have worked for the Group for two 
years or more. According to the plan, additional options are o&ered to each eligible employee once every two years. 
These options are granted from the existing share option pool. The grant conditions, including the vesting period, are 
similar to those of the initial stock option grant, except for a higher discount on the exercise price of the share options.

The Group recognized expenses for EUR 471 838 during the repo%ing year (EUR 136 142 in 2023) in relation to the 
respective share option plan.

Movement during the year in number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of options:

2024 2023

Number WAEP Number WAEP

Outstanding at 1 January 451 121 1.17 375 927 0.90

Granted 98 939 2.80 124 034 1.90

Exercised - - (11 255) 0.90

Fo)eited (12 909) 2.29 (37 585) 0.91

Outstanding at 31 December 537 151 1.44 451 121 1.17

Exercisable as of 31 December 360 105 0.97 306 083 0.78
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60 056 share options were vested during 2024 (36 912 in 2023). Share-based payments to the Management team were 
EUR 75 002 (2023: EUR 22 616).

The range of exercise price is from EUR 0.10 to EUR 3.95. Below is summary of the range of exercise prices for options 
outstanding at the end of the year:

2024 2023

Range of exercise price Number Contractual 
maturity Number Contractual 

maturity

EUR 0.10 to EUR 0.64 167 052 2.29 162 877 3.00

EUR 0.80 to EUR 1.60 175 193 6.07 172 578 7.00

EUR 2.08 to EUR 3.95 194 906 8.25 115 666 8.51

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding was 5.70 years (5.96 years as of 
31 December 2023).

Fair value calculations

The fair value of share options is estimated at the grant date by using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Group 
considers the terms and conditions on which the share options were granted and makes estimates on some of the 
assumptions to adjust for the Black-Scholes model’s drawbacks when valuing American type of options. The inputs used 
in the model are market-observable whenever possible. Considering the rapid stage of development of the Group’s 
operations, the management of the Group needs to make ce%ain assumptions. The weighted average fair value of 
options granted at the measurement date was EUR 9.25 (EUR 6.84 in 2023).

The following table lists the key inputs used during 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

Weighted average fair value of share price 10.33 7.91

Weighted average exercise price 2.80 1.90

Expected life of share options (years) 3.00 4.00

Expected volatility (%) 75% 70%

Dividend yield (%) 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.9% 5.6%

The two most signi"cant inputs with the highest sensitivity to the calculations of share option value are the fair value of 
share price and the expected life of share options. Since 2018, the Group’s policy has been to provide a strike price set at 
a discount from the best guess fair value, estimated by applying several valuation techniques. Before that, the strike price 
was equal to the estimated share price on each grant date. The expected life of share options was initially assumed to be 
on the end date on which the "rst option agreements granted (in 2015) could be exercised, considering the environment 
and how long it took other "ntech companies to go public or get sold. However, as the business was impacted by the 
pandemic-caused downturn of 2020 and a prolonged licensing process, the assumption was changed in 2021 by 
extending the expected life by 2 years. Then the expected exercise date for options granted was estimated to be around 
the end of 2027. Now, with additional time needed to business transformation to multi asset investment platform, the 
expected date has been moved for another year, to end of 2028. Expected volatility is estimated by observing other 
companies listed in recent periods operating in similar industries. The risk-free interest rate is calculated by looking at 
markets across the globe where the Group operates. Dividends are expected to yield 0% at the parent level during the 
calculation period, as all pro"t is intended to be reinvested to grow the value of Mintos Group fu%her.

25. Client funds and %nancial instruments

The Group’s core activity is to operate an easy-to-use online investment platform, providing long-term investors with a 
unique mix of alternative and traditional investments.

Clients are investing in "nancial instruments – loan-backed, rental real estate-backed, and fractional bonds-backed 
securities called Notes, money market fund units and ETFs.

The Group held and safeguarded the following clients’ "nancial instruments, and safeguarded clients’ funds in 
segregated bank accounts as of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

Assets under management

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023*

EUR

Financial Instruments 503 306 446 391 401 089

Cash 41 772 850 52 476 166

TOTAL: 545 079 296 443 877 255

* Sta%ing from 2024, "nancial instruments held and safeguarded for clients are presented in aggregate, without a detailed breakdown. This change 
 re'ects internal repo%ing adjustments and ensures alignment with the group’s disclosure approach. Data for 2023 was reclassi"ed to provide 
 comparative information without a&ecting prior year results and equity. Additionally, the composition of safeguarded cash has been adjusted to 
 re'ect re"nements in classi"cation.
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In accordance with the Financial Instrument Market Law, Mintos Marketplace AS is obligated to ensure an annual audit 
of practices of client funds and "nancial instrument safeguarding. The audit was conducted during the repo%ing period, 
and the repo% was submi*ed to the regulator. No sho%comings were repo%ed.

Before investing in Notes, the Group o&ered investments in loans originated by various alternative lending companies 
worldwide. New investments directly in loans were discontinued on 30 June 2022. Clients had the following outstanding 
investments in loans and payments in process related to those investments (direct investments through assignment 
agreements):

By loan type

31.12.2024

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Personal Loans 69 166 224 88 607 327

Sho%-Term Loans 27 098 479 36 489 443

Car Loans 19 093 908 22 686 930

Business Loans 4 506 740 9 540 167

Mo%gage Loans 1 922 225 2 631 010

Agricultural Loans 106 535 419 529

TOTAL: 121 894 111 160 374 406

Additionally, the Group’s subsidiary, Mintos Debt Collection SIA, established speci"cally for legal proceedings related to 
client asset recovery, is holding investor funding totaling EUR 314 789 as of 31 December 2024 (31.12.2023: EUR 401 261).

26. Fair value

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the "nancial statements are categorized within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is signi"cant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole: 

 • Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 • Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is signi"cant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable; 

 • Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is signi"cant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable.

All "nancial assets, except ETFs, of the Group are measured at amo%ized cost and designated as such upon initial 
recognition. The ETFs are measured at fair value through pro"t or loss (FVTPL) and classi"ed within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy, as it is based on quoted prices in active markets. The Group also holds a bond that is classi"ed within 
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, as its fair value measurement involves signi"cant unobservable inputs. The Group 
assesses that all other its "nancial assets and liabilities have the carrying amount as a reasonable approximation of fair 
value because of the sho%-term nature of the accounts receivable, bonds, and payable and liabilities constituting lease 
contracts. Therefore, the Group has not disclosed the fair values separately. 

Valuation methods and assumptions

The Group uses appropriate valuation techniques in the circumstances and for which su(cient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

The management assessed that cash, trade receivables, other assets, trade payables, and other current liabilities 
approximate their carrying amounts primarily due to the current maturities of these instruments. The Group has no net 
gains or losses of "nancial instruments to repo%.

Borrowings are measured at amo%ized cost using the EIR method, incorporating all contractual terms, including  
revenue-linked interest components. For borrowings with interest tied to revenue growth, the Management periodically 
reassesses expected future cash 'ows. The carrying amount of borrowings may be adjusted over time to re'ect updated 
expectations of future payments. Given recent issuance of the borrowings the fair value is estimated to equal the book 
value.

27. Risk management

 a. Financial risks management

The Group has assessed that its material "nancial risks arise from liquidity risk. The Group also has limited exposure to 
credit risk through the money held in bank accounts and other receivables. Interest rate and foreign exchange risk in the 
years 2024 and 2023 have been negligible as the Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all currencies is not 
material. Interest rate risk is also minimal, as the relevant borrowing contracts are based on "xed interest rates.
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Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in case it cannot meet its "nancial liabilities. The Group manages its liquidity risk 
primarily by maintaining an adequate level of cash and through borrowings.

The below table discloses undiscounted "nancial liabilities versus carrying amount as of 31 December 2024:

Liabilities

< 3 months

EUR

3 – 12 months

EUR

1 – 2 years

EUR

2 – 5 years

EUR

31.12.2024

EUR

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2024

EUR

Non-current borrowings - - 220 094 3 159 665 3 379 759 1 843 873

Current borrowings 40 547 142 385 - - 182 932 167 970

Trade and other payables 634 093 186 220 - - 820 313 820 313

Accrued liabilities 718 532 - - - 718 532 718 532

Current lease 125 881 297 420 - - 423 301 411 188

Non-current lease - - 33 306 27 885 61 191 58 251

TOTAL: 1 519 053 626 025 253 400 3 187 550 5 586 028 4 020 127

The below table discloses undiscounted "nancial liabilities versus carrying amount as of 31 December 2023:

Liabilities

< 3 months

EUR

3 – 12 months

EUR

1 – 2 years

EUR

2 – 5 years

EUR

31.12.2023

EUR

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2023

EUR

Non-current borrowings - - 438 836 - 438 836 419 550

Current borrowings 9 666 69 650 - - 79 316 79 316

Trade and other payables 790 213 9 435 - - 799 648 799 648

Accrued liabilities 707 168 - - - 707 168 707 168

Current lease 125 422 376 265 - - 501 687 468 085

Non-current lease - - 421 941 63 046 484 987 468 525

TOTAL: 1 632 469 455 350 860 777 63 046 3 011 642 2 942 292

Counterpa%y and credit risk

Credit risk is when a counterpa%y will not meet its obligations under a "nancial instrument or customer contract, leading 
to a "nancial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its "nancing activities, including balances with the banks, 
trade receivables, or unbilled receivables for which the invoices have not been issued at the end of the year. The main 
source of credit risk for the Group lies with its counterpa%ies – banks and payment service providers which hold the 
Group’s funds and investors’ uninvested funds. Before sta%ing a relationship with a counterpa%y, we assess the credit 
risk of the institution. We have set limits on the amount of funds that can be held with a counterpa%y depending on the 
risk level. We regularly monitor the risk of our counterpa%ies and check compliance with the limits. To decrease the risk, 
we do not hold all funds with one counterpa%y but distribute the funds among several counterpa%ies.

Given the sho%-term nature of the receivables, the Group is not incorporating forward-looking information into the 
determination of ECL.

Concentration risk

Concentration risk is the risk of the Group su&ering losses due to excessive concentration of revenue sources. In order 
to have a sustainable business it’s impo%ant to limit concentration to a single product, customer, or market, the loss of 
which could signi"cantly impact the "nancial stability of the Group. While pursuing our business strategy, we strive to 
diversify our revenue sources across multiple geographies and customers to avoid having excessive concentrations that 
might substantially harm the business in case of negative scenarios.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group holds the cash balances (see Note 16) with commercial banks and payment institutions in Latvia, Lithuania, 
Estonia, United Kingdom, Germany, Mexico, Indonesia, Kazakhstan and Poland, and in money market funds that are 
highly liquid and low-risk "nancial instruments. Bank balances are maintained with various institutions. Of these, 
EUR 946 804 (31.12.2023: EUR 1 416 697) is held with banks rated Baa1 or higher by Moody’s (using the institution group’s 
rating when a standalone rating is unavailable), while EUR 1 278 368 (31.12.2023: EUR 1 380 939) is held with banks that 
are either unrated or rated below Baa1. Apa% from that, the money held in the European Union’s banks in the amount 
of up to EUR 100 000 are guaranteed by the local state deposit insurance schemes except for Mintos Marketplace AS 
as an investment "rm is not eligible to these guaranties, with total balance with the European Union’s banks amounting 
to EUR 3 208 722 (31.12.2023: EUR 2 789 704). Given that signi"cant balances are kept only with European Union banks 
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with investment grade credit rating for deposits, the Group believes that there is very minimal credit risk associated with 
these balances.

Unbilled receivables and trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by the Group’s established policy, procedures and controls relating to customer credit 
risk management. Outstanding customer receivables and unbilled receivables are regularly monitored. Accrued income 
for which the bills are not yet issued by the end of the period (see Note 15) is usually withheld directly from the se*lements 
with the Group’s clients, thus limiting credit risk exposure.

Based on the assessment of debtor payment discipline and other qualitive information about their "nancial standing, an 
impairment allowance was made in 2024 and in 2023. The Group’s net trade receivables from the customers, unbilled 
receivables as of 31 December 2024 was EUR 860 756 (31.12.2023: EUR 929 709), including EUR 164 381 (31.12.2023: 
EUR 194 333) of provisions for doubtful debts and EUR 12 977 (31.12.2023: EUR 35 696) impairment based on Expected 
credit loss calculation below. As of 31 December 2024, other debtors and assets in the amount of EUR 54 994 (31.12.2023: 
EUR 59 794) were impaired.

An impairment analysis is pe)ormed on 31 December 2024 and on 31 December 2023 using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The calculation re'ects the probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and suppo%able 
information that is available on the repo%ing date about past events and current conditions.

The carrying amounts of receivable represent the maximum credit exposure. There are trade receivables from debtors 
in the Russian Federation as of 31 December 2023 in the amount of EUR 57 442 (31.12.2023: EUR 58 571), from which 
EUR 54 924 were impaired as doubtful debts (31.12.2023: EUR 56 052). 

Below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix as of 
31 December 2024:

Days past due

Fully 
impaired 
doubtful 

debts

0 
days

EUR 

 <30 
days

EUR

 31-60 
days

EUR

 61-90 
days

EUR 

 >90 
days

EUR 

 Total

EUR

Grand 
total

EUR 

Expected credit loss rate 100% 0.48% 6.57% 14.68% 15.57% 16.46% - -

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default 164 381 796 406 69 199 302 32 27 696 893 635 1 058 016

Expected credit loss 164 381 3 823 4 546 44 5 4 559 12 977 177 358

Below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix as of 
31 December 2023:

Days past due

Fully 
impaired 
doubtful 

debts

0 
days

EUR 

 <30 
days

EUR

 31-60 
days

EUR

 61-90 
days

EUR 

 >90 
days

EUR 

 Total

EUR

Grand 
total

EUR 

Expected credit loss rate 100% 0.48% 6.84% 37.43% 49.01% 26.66% - -

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default 194 333 793 233 87 792 9 316 10 668 64 396 965 405 1 159 738

Expected credit loss 194 333 3 808 6 005 3 487 5 228 17 168 35 696 230 029
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Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables, other debtors, and assets during the year 
was as follows:

By impairment allowance type

2024

EUR

2023

EUR

From the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Impairment allowance for doubtful debts in trade receivables (1 079) -

Impairment allowance for doubtful debts in other debts and assets (19 298) (19 783)

Impairment of right-to-use assets - (76 790)

Impairment allowance reverse based on expected credit loss calculation 22 719 7 597

Impairment allowance reverse in doubtful debts 15 340 52 016

Impairment allowance reverse in doubtful other debts and assets 4 800 30

From the Statement of Comprehensive Income positions that were not included in the Statement of 
Financial Position:

Wri*en o& trade receivables (16 754) (1 606)

Wri*en o& other trade receivables - (1 826)

Total impairment reverse/(losses) in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 5 728 (40 362)

From the Statement of Financial Position positions that were not included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income:

Wri*en o& trade receivables that were impaired in the previous periods (14 567) (75 777)

Loss from 'uctuations of currency exchange rates (1 124) (2 771)

Total in balance as of 31 December, including: 251 650 289 823

 Impairment allowance in trade receivables, including (Note 15): 177 358 230 029

  Trade receivable impairment allowance 164 381 194 333

  Impairment based on Expected credit loss calculations 12 977 35 696

 Impairment allowance for other debtors (Note 14) 54 994 59 794

 Impairment allowance for cash and cash equivalents  (Note 16) 19 298 -

 b. Capital management

The Group considers its capital to comprise its equity share capital, share premium, equity reserves related to share-
based payments, accumulated retained results, and, for regulatory capital purposes, subordinated debt classi"ed as 
a Tier 2 capital instrument. The Group’s objectives when maintaining capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and bene"t other stakeholders and to provide an adequate return to shareholders by 
pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk. Sta%ing in 2021, the Group includes two subsidiaries 
– Mintos Marketplace AS and Mintos Payments SIA that adhere to regulatory capital requirements monitored by Latvijas 
Banka, the central bank of the Republic of Latvia. Both subsidiaries complied with the requirements at the end of the 
year. The Group sets the amount of capital it requires in propo%ion to risk. The Group manages its capital structure 
and adjusts it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The 
management of the Group believes that the current level of capital is su(cient for fu%her operations. There have been 
no changes in how the Group manages its capital during the repo%ing year.

 c. Compliance risk management

Compliance risk is the risk that the Group su&ers losses due to noncompliance with the applicable regulations. Several 
companies within the Group must comply with several regulations in di&erent areas. Our risk management process is 
built to ensure that we run our business in compliance with all applicable regulations. We have dedicated teams that 
control the compliance with internal policies and external regulations.

 d. Operational risk management

Operational risk is the risk that the Group might su&er losses due to process 'aws, IT failure, human error, or external 
fraud. In a rapid growth environment, it’s essential to ensure that the processes are adjusted promptly to keep up with 
the growth. We assess operational risk to identify processes where the risk is material. We apply risk-mitigating tools to 
ensure that the residual risk is not above our risk appetite.

 e. Reputational risk management

Reputational risk is the risk that the Group su&ers losses due to a damaged reputation. Reputation is a cornerstone for 
successful operations to every "nancial institution. Loss of reputation might also lead to slower growth due to fewer 
investors joining the Group due to the damaged reputation. When making strategic decisions, we continuously evaluate 
the reputational aspect of such decisions. Moreover, before sta%ing a relationship with a new pa%ner or customer, we 
assess whether the cooperation negatively a&ects our reputation.
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28. Events after the balance sheet date

After the balance sheet, the Group initiated activities to raise additional capital for growth and development, one of 
which was issuing subordinated bonds by Mintos Marketplace AS. There have been no other signi"cant events after the 
balance sheet date.

Ma#ins Sulte

Chairman of the Management Board

Ma#ins Valters

Member of the Management Board

24 July 2025



Independent 
auditors' repo#

M
in
to

s H
ol

di
ng

s
C

on
so
lid

at
ed

 a
nn

ua
l r

ep
o%

 fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r 2

02
4

45
49

This document is electronically signed with a secure electronic signature and a time stamp.



  
 
 

 

KPMG Baltics SIA 
Roberta Hirsa iela 1 
Riga, LV-1045 
Latvia 

T: + 371 67038000 
kpmg.com/lv 
kpmg@kpmg.lv 
 

 

KPMG Baltics SIA, a Latvian limited liability company and a 
member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a 
private English company limited by guarantee. 

 

  
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the shareholders of AS Mintos Holdings 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AS Mintos Holdings 
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 10 to 44 of the 
accompanying consolidated Annual Report, which comprise: 

— the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,  

— the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended,  

— the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,  

— the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and  

— the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of material 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the consolidated financial position of AS Mintos Holdings and its subsidiaries as at 
31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union. 

Basis for Opinion  

In accordance with the ’Law on Audit Services’ of the Republic of Latvia we conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in the Republic of Latvia 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) developed by 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the 
independence requirements included in the ‘Law on Audit Services‘ of the Republic of Latvia 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have 
also fulfilled our other professional ethics responsibilities and objectivity requirements in 
accordance with the IESBA Code and the ‘Law on Audit Services’ of the Republic of Latvia. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Reporting on Other Information  

The Group’s management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises: 

— the Management Report, as set out on pages from 3 to 8 of the accompanying 
consolidated Annual Report, 

mailto:kpmg@kpmg.lv


 

— the Statement on Management Responsibility, as set out on page 9 of the accompanying 
consolidated Annual Report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
included in the consolidated Annual Report, and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon, except as described in the Other Reporting Responsibilities in 
Accordance with the Legislation of the Republic of Latvia Related to Other Information section 
of our report. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed and in light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the Group and its environment obtained in the course of our audit, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 

Other Reporting Responsibilities in Accordance with the Legislation of the Republic of Latvia 
Related to Other Information 

In addition, in accordance with the ‘Law on Audit Services‘ of the Republic of Latvia with 
respect to the Management Report, our responsibility is to consider whether the Management 
Report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the ‘Law on the Annual Reports 
and Consolidated Annual Reports’ of the Republic of Latvia. 

Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion, 
in all material respects:  

— the information given in the Management Report for the financial year for which the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements; and 

— the Management Report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
‘Law on the Annual Reports and Consolidated Annual Reports’ of the Republic of Latvia. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 



 

Auditors’ Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a fair 
presentation. 

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

  



 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 

 

KPMG Baltics SIA 
Licence No. 55 
 

 
Rainers Vilāns 
Member of the Board 
Latvian Sworn Auditor 
Certificate No. 200 
Riga, Latvia 
24 July 2025 
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